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“You always help 
me when I call. 
The counsellors 
understand 
where I am 
coming from. 
I don’t know 
where I would be 
without a free 
service like this. 
It means so 
much.”
Lena*, SuicideLine Victoria client
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Prof. Steve Moylan
Chair of the Board

We also said farewell to long serving directors, 
Jeanette Jifkins (Chair), Dr Nicholas Voudouris 
(Nominations & Remuneration Committee Chair) 
and Arvind Nathan (Director) who retired during 
the year. On behalf of OTLA I would like to thank 
them all for their many years of dedicated service 
to the organisation.

The Board also conducted an extensive national 
recruitment campaign for new directors this 
year. I am delighted to introduce to you three 
new directors (Nicki Batagol, Gordon Botwright 
and Luke Rycken), each bringing a wealth of 
experience to the organisation. 

Nicki is a Councillor with the City of Stonnington 
and a Director of Mental Health First Aid 
International. Previously she was the Chair 
of PANDA (Perinatal Anxiety and Depression 
Australia) and Emerge Women and Children 
Support Services. With lived experience of 
perinatal depression, Nicki understands the 
importance of accessible and quality support 
services to those in need. Gordon has extensive 
executive leadership experience in the private and 
not-for-profi t sectors and has worked in security, 
justice, and health industries. He is the current 
Chief Executive Offi  cer of St John Ambulance 
Victoria. Luke is the CEO of the Australian Youth 
Aff airs Coalition where he works as an advocate 
for young people across the country. He is an 
experienced advocate and has led campaigns to 
improve mental health, employment, and disability 
policies.

In concluding, I would like to thank the 
Department of Health, Department of Social 
Services, and the Victorian Government, as well 
our diverse funding partners for their ongoing 
support, and our entire team for their enduring 
commitment to supporting people during some of 
the most challenging times of their lives.

Every day the On the Line Australia (OTLA) team 
change and save lives. We should all be proud 
of the contribution we make to the Australian 
community.

On behalf of the Board of OTLA, I would like to 
thank our incredible team of dedicated mental 
health and corporate service professionals who 
as a team delivered almost 100,000 free crisis 
support, suicide prevention and mental health 
counselling sessions over the past 12 months to 
Australians in desperate need of help.  

I would also like to recognise the patience and 
fortitude shown by our team who have faced 
signifi cant challenges over the past year as 
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, and 
changes in management and structures that were 
necessary to ensure our sustainability. 

During the year, we saw the departure of interim 
CEO Lars Schiphorst, and the appointment of 
Angus Clelland as permanent CEO, who joined the 
organisation in March 2022. 

Angus brings a wealth of experience as a system 
reform advocate and service provider in the 
mental health and disability sectors. Under his 
leadership, OTLA will chart a new and exciting 
course that will help us adapt successfully to the 
strategic shifts underway in the sector while very 
much focussing on the needs of the consumer and 
the organisation’s founding purpose as a crisis 
support, suicide prevention and mental health 
charity.  This will include working with like-minded 
organisations and governments to increase 
access to desperately needed services.  

The past year has also been a time of change for 
the Board. 

During the year, the Board commissioned a 
major independent review of OTLA’s governance 
structures and practices and embarked on a 
multi-year continuous improvement program.

From the Chair

Welcome
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I was delighted to join On the Line Australia in 
March 2022. Having spent the previous fi ve years 
working on federal and state mental health system 
reform initiatives, it has been terrifi c to be back 
closer to service delivery and to work for a crisis 
support,  suicide prevention, and mental health 
charity that has been using innovation in service 
delivery to reach and support Australians in need 
since 1958.

I have been amazed by the incredible work of 
OTLA’s dedicated workforce of mental health 
professionals and corporate support staff  who as 
a team responded to almost 100,000 requests 
for help from Australians in need over the past 
year. This is despite the ongoing impacts of 
the Covid-19 pandemic, infl uenza, economic 
uncertainty and of course the internal challenges 
that became very public in 2021.  

Across the country, millions of Australians facing 
mental health challenges and psychological 
distress are unable to access the support they 
need, when and where they need it. For many 
whose challenges are too complex for primary 
care, yet not complex enough to meet the very 
high threshold set by state mental health systems, 
there are few options but to wait for months to 
see a psychiatrist or psychologist (if they can 
aff ord the gap fees), suff er in silence, or present at 
hospital emergency departments.

OTLA helps address some of these critical access 
issues. As a free, 24/7 telephone and digital 
national crisis support, counselling, and system 
navigation service provider, OTLA provides 
support for people who would otherwise do 
without. But we know that we can do a lot more.

Despite our best eff orts, OTLA cannot respond 
to every call for help. Sadly, tens of thousands of 
calls to MensLine, Suicide Line Victoria and other 
services go unanswered every year due to historic 
underfunding by governments. 

Looking ahead to 2023 and beyond, a major 
strategic priority for OTLA will be to work with our 
partners and peak bodies in the mental health 
and suicide prevention sectors to secure the funds 
we need to scale-up existing services to meet full 
demand. Australians deserve nothing less.

Ensuring that we promote lived experience in the 
leadership, design, and delivery of everything we 
do is also a strategic priority for OTLA. We are 
delighted to have engaged nationally recognised 
lived experience leader Ingrid Ozols AM to Chair 
our new Lived and Living Experience Advisory 
Group and to help guide the organisation on its 
lived experience journey.

Finally, and most importantly, supporting and 
developing our people must be central to 
everything we do. We must do everything that 
we can to attract, support, develop, and retain 
our dedicated workforce, noting that Australia 
is facing a national shortage of qualifi ed and 
experienced mental health and suicide prevention 
professionals. This will ensure that OTLA can 
continue to deliver the accessible, evidence-
based, and safe services needed by so many 
Australians in need and deserve.

From the CEO

Welcome
Angus Clelland

Chief Executive Offi  cer
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“The counsellor 
I spoke to was 
understanding 
and not 
judgmental. 
He helped me to 
gain perspective 
on my situation. 
Thank you.”
Jordan*, MensLine Australia client
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intake and counselling sessions

 

 

Top 3 reasons for calling
1.   mental health issues
2.   relationship issues
3.   suicide prevention 99,157

callers identified 
as male

callers under 
45-years

62% 69%
callers were
from Victoria

43%

website phone 
and online 
counselling clicks

67k
Australian
website users 

778k
online mental 
health resource 
page views 

797k

social media reach
12m

social media 
engagement

284k
video views
44k

Service
Highlights

Note: Demographic and location data 
does not include consumers who did not 
provide information.
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“The counsellor 
made me feel like 
someone truly 
cared about me.”
Helen*, SuicideLine Victoria client
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Counselling Centre
With the changes that the last few years have 
triggered, On the Line was able to pivot from 
a wholly offi  ce-based workforce to one that 
is primarily capable of working from home. 
Recognising and acknowledging the valuable 
work undertaken by counsellors resulted in a 
change in title from Service Centre to Counselling 
Centre. This originated after consultation with 
the clinical workforce, where it was highlighted 
that although counsellors are not working from a 
central hub any longer, they are at the heart of 
everything we do. 

Clinical Recruitment and Support
Given the ability of counsellors to work from home, 
we have extended our recruitment campaigns 
nationwide. This means we can recruit from a 
larger pool of counsellors, rather than having 
to compete for the limited group of qualifi ed 
mental health workers in Victoria. To date, we 
have recruited counsellors beyond Victoria from 
Tasmania, Western Australia, Queensland, South 
Australia, and New South Wales. This has meant 
that vacancies, when they arise, can be fi lled more 
rapidly, meaning that consumers have access to 
counsellors when they need them. 

The Counselling Centre has undergone structural 
and reporting changes, with each counsellor 
allocated to a Clinical Manager who provides 
coaching, real-time in-call support, after-call 
support, and debriefi ng. The majority of 
counsellors work most (if not all) of their shifts 
with their dedicated Clinical Manager. This 
ensures relationship building and collaboration, 
creating a sense of team, which contributes to 
our counsellors helping our consumers achieve 
positive mental health outcomes.

A newly created role of the Quality Assurance 
Specialist (QAS) has allowed for a dedicated 
resource to focus on the quality of interactions 
– calls and online webchats. Having a QAS 
ensures consistency of results and feedback. 
The QAS listens to recordings of counsellor 
sessions for assessment, coaching and training 
purposes. This allows each counsellor to refl ect 
on their counselling style, how they engage with 
consumers, the use of the counselling framework, 
and other relevant elements. 

Clinical and 
Counselling
Many exciting initiatives have occurred 
within the clinical space at On the Line this 
year, and we anticipate that this will extend 
into the future.



11On the Line Annual Review 2021-2022

Clinical Council
On the Line has convened a Clinical Council 
comprising Counsellors, Clinical Managers, 
Lived Experience Advisor, Australian Services 
Union representatives, researchers, and Human 
Resources to ensure there is a robust and eff ective 
governance process for reviewing clinical practice, 
quality systems, workplace health and safety 
(WHS), and research. Council members contribute 
to organisational planning and strategy 
development and advise on new opportunities 
to promote safety and excellence in consumer 
outcomes.

New Consumer Outcome Measure
On the Line is focused on putting our consumers 
at the centre of their care. Recognising that 
consumers are best placed to measure their own 
improvement, On the Line has implemented a new 
way to measure the success of our counselling 
sessions. This new outcome measure moves away 
from a counsellor-reported distress rating to a 
consumer self-reported goal-focused rating. 

This new self-reported measure forms part of 
the counselling session to ensure clients get the 
support and care they need. To start the process, 
our counsellors ask two questions at the beginning 
of the session:
 • If we can focus on one thing (x) today, 
  what would that be?
 • On a scale of 1-10, where one is 
  not distressed and ten is extremely 
  distressed, how do you feel about 
  (x) now?

At the end of the session, the counsellor reminds 
the consumer about the initial distress level 
rating they said at the start of the call and asks a 
question:

 • On a scale of 1-10, how do you feel 
  about (x) now?

The new outcome measure is more accurate in 
reporting distress levels and puts person-centred 
care at the heart of our counselling sessions. 

“Since starting in 
this role, I have 
enjoyed observing 
the resilience 
and drive of our 
counsellors, their 
determination to 
support our clients, 
and their willingness 
to always improve 
on their work. 
Knowing counsellors 
look forward to call 
quality assessments 
is heart-warming. 
It is a pleasure to 
work closely with 
counsellors and feel 
invested in their 
success.”
Quality Assurance Specialist 
at On the Line
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“Thank you 
for the insight 
provided about 
my marriage 
breakdown. 
It was helpful.”
Tony*, Changing for Good client
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Service 
Lines

New Services

Mind Health Service Connect Line
Service Connect Line is a free telephone service 
that links people with a mental illness residing 
in the Hunter New England and Central Coast 
Primary Health Network to psychosocial support 
services (mental and physical health as well as 
social supports). The service is for anyone whose 
health and lifestyle circumstances have changed 
and needs support to undertake everyday 
activities. Carers, clinicians, and GPs can also call 
Service Connect Line on a person’s behalf. 
On the Line delivers the service by providing 
intake, assessment, and allocation of referrals to 
local providers. 

Head to Health Intake Assessment 
and Referral Phone Service
The Head to Health Intake Assessment and 
Referral Phone Service is an initiative of the Federal 
Department of Health funded through Country SA 
PHN (Primary Health Network). The service aims 
to standardise intake assessment and referral for 
mental health services in Country South Australia 
to ensure access to consistent quality care for 
consumers. On the Line delivers the service by 
working with consumers to fi nd the right support for 
their individual needs. Using the Initial Assessment 
and Referral Decision Support Tool, our team 
can identify the best services for consumers and 
facilitate referrals to local providers.

On the Line managed and delivered 
21 mental health and suicide prevention 
services during the fi nancial year 2021-22. 
Our team provided inbound counselling 
sessions, outbound multi-session 
counselling, referrals, case coordination, 
forum moderation, social media 
moderation, and digital promotion.



14 On the Line Annual Review 2021-2022

All Service Lines and Funders

Men’s Mental Health

MensLine Australia

A free 24/7 national telephone, online webchat 
and video counselling, information and referral 
service for men with family and relationship 
concerns. MensLine is for all men and all types of 
relationships.
mensline.org.au 

Funded by the Australian Government 
Department of Social Services

Suicide Prevention

All Hours Suicide Support Service

A free specialised national telephone service to 
support clients of the Primary Health Networks 
when their allied health provider is not available. 
ontheline.org.au/ahs

Funded by the Australian Government
Department of Health and Aged Care

Suicide Call Back Service

A nationwide service that provides free 24/7 
telephone, online webchat and video counselling 
to people who are aff ected by suicide. The service 
also off ers multi-session counselling. 
suicidecallbackservice.org.au 

Funded by the Australian Government
Department of Health and Aged Care

SuicideLine Victoria

A free 24/7 telephone, online webchat and video 
counselling service for people in Victoria who 
are at risk of suicide, concerned about someone, 
bereaved, or have mental health concerns. The 
service also off ers multi-session counselling, case 
coordination and inbound referrals. 
suicideline.org.au 

Supported by the Victorian Government    

Domestic and Family Violence

1800RESPECT

Specialised trauma support counselling for people 
who are impacted by sexual assault, domestic or 
family violence, and abuse.
1800respect.org.au

Funded by Medibank Health Solutions  

Changing for Good (MensLine)

A free specialist program that provides a 
one-to-one telephone counselling service for men 
who want to maintain respectful relationships 
without using violence. 
changingforgood.org.au  

Funded by the Australian Government 
Department of Social Services
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All Service Lines and Funders

Primary Health Networks

CAREinMIND

A free 24/7 low intensity telephone, online 
webchat and video counselling service for people 
in northern, central and western suburbs of 
Melbourne.
careinmind.com.au

Funded by North Western Melbourne Primary 
Health Network

CAREinMIND Suicide Prevention Service

An intake, assessment and referral allocation 
service for people who have an increased risk 
of suicide. 

Funded by North Western Melbourne Primary 
Health Network

Connections Western Sydney Helpline

A free 24/7 low intensity telephone counselling 
service for people in the western Sydney region.

Funded by the Western Sydney Primary Health 
Network

Head to Health Intake Assessment and Referral 
Phone Service

A free phone intake assessment and referral 
mental health service for consumers in Country 
South Australia to ensure access to consistent 
quality care.

Funded by Country SA PHN

Mind Health

A free low intensity telephone and online webchat 
counselling service for people in the Hunter New 
England and Central Coast region. 
mindhealth.org.au 

Funded by Hunter New England and Central Coast 
Primary Health Network 

Mind Health Service Connect Line

A free phone service that links people with a 
mental illness residing in the Hunter New England 
and Central Coast region to psychosocial 
support services.
mindhealth.org.au/serviceconnectline 

Funded by Hunter New England and Central Coast 
Primary Health Network 

Regional Access  

A free 24/7 low intensity telephone and online 
webchat counselling service for people in regional 
South Australia.
saregionalaccess.org.au

Funded by Country SA PHN

Talk it Out

A free 24/7 low intensity telephone, video and 
online webchat counselling service for people in 
the Murray region.

Funded by Murray Primary Health Network

(continued)
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Commercial
Australian Institute of Conveyancers NSW 
Care Line 

A telephone counselling service for AICNSW 
members and their families. 

Funded by the Australian Institute of Conveyancers 
New South Wales Division

Beyond Blue Moderation

After-hours moderation and community 
management for Beyond Blue’s forum and social 
media channels.

Funded by Beyond Blue

Incolink

An after-hours telephone counselling service for 
Incolink members and their families in Victoria.

Funded by Incolink

MATES Helpline

A national triage and support counselling service 
for construction, mining and energy workers in 
high distress.

Funded by MATES Helpline

ReachOut Australia Moderation

After-hours moderation for ReachOut’s online peer 
support forums and social media channels.

Funded by ReachOut Australia

StandBy Support After Suicide

An after-hours telephone support service for 
people and communities who are impacted 
by suicide. 

Funded by United Synergies

Travellers Aid EAP Service

A 24/7 telephone counselling service for Travellers 
Aid employees and volunteers.

Funded by Travellers Aid

All Service Lines and Funders
(continued)
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“I am grateful for 
the counsellor’s 
eff orts. She was 
able to reduce 
my stress level 
during the call.”
Bianca*, Suicide Call Back 
Service client
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Counsellor 
Case Study

Service: MensLine Australia
Location: Western Sydney 

Tyler* was expecting his fi rst child with his 
now ex-girlfriend. He was struggling and 
felt stuck. He reached out to MensLine for 
support. 

When I answered the call on MensLine, Tyler told 
me he was “frustrated with his ex-partner”. He 
said they broke up a few months ago and that 
she’s pregnant. Tyler explained that he is confused 
by how she communicates with him – she invited 
him to a doctor’s appointment but has now cut 
off  communication. He said he wants to be friends 
with her when the baby comes. And although 
he would like to be in a relationship with her, he 
understands it is not what she wants. Being quite 
young, he just turned 19, I refl ected to Tyler that 
it is a huge change and a stressful situation even 
without the breakup. He said, “I don’t feel ready”. 

When I asked what happened between them, 
Tyler said they broke up because of an argument 
where he started shouting. I could hear the shame 
in his voice and said, “Sounds like that is sitting 
heavily with you”. “Defi nitely,” he said.

Tyler then told me he has ADHD, and as a child, he 
was left alone to deal with his emotions. Now, he 
struggles to manage overwhelming experiences 
and doesn’t know how to identify his feelings. He 
sounded confused, saying, “I don’t know what I 
should be doing”.

Tyler told me he is seeing a psychologist and is 
motivated to change how he deals with things. 
But he still seemed fi xated on his ex-partner, 
saying, “I can’t stop thinking about it all”.

I reframed this by saying, “It sounds like you’re 
spending a lot of time wondering, but we don’t 
know her intentions. All we know is ourselves and 
what we can control”.

He wished he could stop replaying it in his mind 
and move forward. I reframed this for him – 
explaining how wishing we could stop thinking 
about something rarely makes the thoughts go 
away and instead helps validate those thoughts 
and feelings. Finally, I said, “Give yourself 
permission and make some peace with it”. This 
seemed to help calm him down in his mind.

I then asked, “What more could you ask of 
yourself?” Tyler showed brilliant insight by replying, 
“Just do the best I can to look after myself and 
change my outlook to give it some time”. Tyler 
seemed determined to be involved in the baby’s 
life. He went on to tell me he was kicked out of his 
home at 15 and has fended for himself since then, 
and “I don’t want that for my kid”. 

I refl ected this to him, “Your past has centred your 
need to be there for your child”. He immediately 
applied this truth, saying, “This conversation has 
helped me see that I have more responsibility 
here than I realised”. I wanted him to know that 
this is okay and that his insights and eff orts are a 
sign he is moving in the right direction. To affi  rm 
this further, I said, “You don’t feel the same way 
you felt a month ago. You don’t know how you or 
others will feel moving forward”.

At the end of the call Tyler said, “Thank you for 
speaking with me, I really appreciate your time. 
You’ve given me clarity”. 

“It takes two to have a conversation, you have a 
lot of insight, remember your strengths,” I replied. 
* Consumer name and identifi able details have been changed.

Learn how our counsellors 
assess and support our consumers.
Trigger warning: This story contains content about mental health and relationship issues. 
This may be diffi  cult for some readers.
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Counsellor 
Case Study
Service: CAREinMIND 
Wellbeing Service
Location: Melbourne

Robert*, who is in his 40s, initially called 
CAREinMIND for a single counselling session. 
He was referred for four more counselling 
sessions, as part of the ongoing support the 
service provides.

When I received this referral to our multi-session 
counselling program, I could see from the case 
notes that Robert was experiencing profound 
grief and hopelessness. He had recently lost his 
mother, was facing social isolation from his friends, 
and had relationship issues with his partner. The 
notes also reported that Robert “doesn’t believe in 
suicide”, but he had also been imagining a world 
without him in it and reported a suicide attempt 
a few years ago. Robert agreed that he needed 
support to cope with his losses. 

In our initial session together, the primary focus 
was on Robert’s friends. Robert said he didn’t just 
lose his friends but had been ostracised. He said, 
“I feel so hurt by how they are treating me”. When 
I enquired about the hurt, we pinpointed feelings 
of rejection and low self-worth. He met them 
through church but no longer attended as he 
felt unwelcome. Another loss, but this time it’s his 
connection to his faith. 

We identifi ed his desire for a general sense of 
connection compounded by this need to connect 
to his friends and express his pain at their actions. 
We explored the option of trialling another church 
to see if that might ease his sense of loneliness, 
while also encouraging him to start seeking 
connection in ways he can control rather than 
focusing on the grief, hurt, and unfair actions of 
others. 

The following two sessions were surprising, as the 
primary focus had shifted. He reported having a 
“better time” and seemed to have found some 
acceptance around his friends. He felt hopeful. 
This led him to focus more on himself and his home 
life with his partner. 

We talked about his relationship in which he felt 
controlled and sometimes belittled by his partner. 
I refl ected to Robert his language around “going 
along with it” and how this can perpetuate the 
dynamic. He refl ected on it and realised this 
mirrors his life growing up in a large family, having 
to constantly follow suit. Robert said, “We both 
rely on each other too much”. Before the last 
session, he and his partner decided together 
that they needed to focus on developing their 
supports. 

While still searching for a new church community, 
we developed strategies to help Robert feel 
connected to himself, his faith, and his family. He 
began journaling again, spent more quality time 
with his partner, and started working towards his 
career goals. At the end of the fourth session, I let 
him know how far he had come – as he truly had 
made wonderful progress. 

During our postvention check-in a few weeks 
later, Robert said he had been doing better since 
the multi-session counselling program. He felt 
“more focussed on the positives in his life”. He had 
engaged in Christian counselling and made plans 
for his future.  
* Consumer name and identifi able details have been changed.

Trigger warning: This story contains content about mental health and suicide. 
This may be diffi  cult for some readers.
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Counsellor 
Case Study
Service: Suicide Call Back Service
Location: Perth 

Maria* was a victim of domestic violence 
and was experiencing suicidal ideation. She 
called Suicide Call Back Service for help. 

When I answered the call, I could tell Maria was 
struggling. She gave short, quiet responses and 
her speech was slurred. When I asked Maria how 
I could help, she started to cry. As she told me 
her story, I could scarcely believe she was brave 
enough to call at all. Her husband had assaulted 
her – and the injuries caused her slurred speech. I 
learned more about her history and the extensive 
abuse she had experienced throughout her life. 
She called because she felt she couldn’t do it 
anymore. 

I explored Maria’s risk to see if she had any plans 
to act on her thoughts. She told me she had 
access to a weapon for protection and as a 
potential means for suicide. I asked if she could 
stay safe while we talked, and she agreed. She 
was home alone and said she was safe from 
threats but in fear her husband may come back. 
Based on how much pain she was in and how 
recent this trauma was, I asked if she wanted to 
end her life or if she wanted her pain and trauma 
to end. She replied “Both, my life is constant pain 
and trauma… if there’s no light in my life then 
what’s the point?” Despite this, when I asked 
about a timeframe, she couldn’t give me one 
and told me she had her cat with her. A miracle, I 
thought, there’s a pet. 

Maria had limited other supports, but I identifi ed 
that she called us for help, that there was a part 
of herself that does want to be safe, supported, 
and comforted. She then told me about her kids, 
who were safe with another family member. More 
good news.

The client was helpless and hopeless in the wake 
of her experiences and feared for her future. She 
said, “there is no way out”. But I acknowledged 
that her story is also one of strength and survival 
and I told her, “You’re incredibly strong, you may 
not feel like it right now, but you are”. 

Maria yawned so I decided to focus on her 
immediate biological needs, she hadn’t slept, and 
she was hurt, her body needed rest. I slowed down 
and lowered my tone and so did she. 

“What are you going to do after our call?” I 
asked. She said she would go and feed her cat. 
She started talking about the future. She said 
her husband was going to court next month and 
her children would come home when she’s ready 
for them. I took this as a signal that her attention 
had moved away from suicide. I asked if she had 
eaten, and she said she had only had coff ee in 
the last few days. I gently explained that without 
sleep and food, as unattainable as they feel, she 
will inevitably feel even worse. She agreed to try to 
eat something small after our conversation. 

I wanted to make sure that after these small steps 
she would be safe so I asked if she would call us 
back after eating and feeding the cat and she 
agreed. I reiterated “Call us back, we care and will 
be here for you through this”.

I told her to keep her cat close and she said she 
would. 

Following this conversation, Maria has maintained 
regular contact with us and has now also been 
connected to other support services for her 
circumstances.
* Consumer name and identifi able details have been changed.

Trigger warning: This story contains content about domestic violence and suicide. 
This may be diffi  cult for some readers.
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Counsellor 
Case Study
Service: SuicideLine Victoria
Location: Bendigo

Nicole*, who is in her mid-50s, has a 
diagnosis of bipolar and called SuicideLine 
when she was experiencing signifi cant 
distress.  

Three hours into my shift, I answered a call 
from Nicole, who told me she calls occasionally 
when she feels like this. She said, “I can’t stop 
thinking about ending it all”. Nicole also told me 
she has bipolar. She had trouble articulating 
herself, repeating “I don’t know, and I can’t think 
properly”. This told me that despite her even 
tone, Nicole was likely experiencing signifi cant 
distress. I explored this distress and apparent 
mental overwhelm, asking if she experiences 
cyclical thinking. She said she does and that she is 
ruminating on not wanting to be alive, needing to 
escape. 

Given these statements, and Nicole’s open style 
of engagement, I decided to ask risk assessment 
questions quite transparently. I asked Nicole if she 
had a current plan or intent to suicide. She did not 
have a plan but said she worried if she couldn’t 
get out of this state of mind soon, she would want 
to act on it. When asked about her history of 
self-harm and suicide, she told me she tried to 
suicide six months ago. She said she decided to 
delay this attempt and thought, “I can hold off  a 
little while longer”. 

Here Nicole off ered me a wonderful opportunity 
to highlight that she can already challenge these 
thoughts. I refl ected this to her to build some 
confi dence. I then decided we would focus on 
working with her cognitions. 

To start this process, I provided some 
psychoeducation around ‘distorted thinking’ 
and off ered to workshop a strategy involving a 
notebook. Nicole said that she writes extensively, 
and this helped me know I was on the right track. 

I asked her to title the left page of her notebook 
‘thoughts’ and the right page ‘truth and facts’. 
I then asked Nicole to write one of her cyclical 
thoughts. She wrote, “I feel trapped in a well of 
pain and there’s no hope for my future”. To that 
I asked, “If you were to stand in a court of law, in 
front of a judge, swearing to tell the truth, could 
you tell that courtroom that thought is 100% true?” 
“No,” she said. “What’s the rebuttal?” I asked. She 
said, “I am only here and now, I can’t predict the 
future”. I asked her to write that down, and she 
did. 

We workshopped a few more thoughts together 
and I asked, “Does this give you a sense of control 
over your thoughts?” and she replied, “I will give 
this a go, it’s a good one”.

We talked a little longer, giving me the opportunity 
to ease Nicole away from this heavy exploration 
and move toward what else she can focus on that 
day. I said, “I hope our chat today has given you 
a diff erent perspective on things”. Nicole replied 
that she no longer felt suicidal. She went on to say 
that she was initially stuck on her thoughts in the 
left column, but now she can “focus on the right-
hand side”.  

To close the call I affi  rmed to Nicole, “I’m so glad 
you rang”.

She said, “I’m so glad I got you”.
* Consumer name and identifi able details have been changed.

Trigger warning: This story contains content about mental health and suicide. 
This may be diffi  cult for some readers.
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Counsellor 
Case Study
“All the counsellors 
I’ve spoken to 
on Suicide Call 
Back Service 
are always 
professional 
and provide 
me support in 
distressing times.”
Leah*, Suicide Call Back Service client
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On the Line 
Projects
National Safety and Quality Digital 
Mental Health Standards
 
In 2020, the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care released the National Safety and 
Quality Digital Mental Health Standards (NSQDMHS). There are three standards: 

 1. Clinical and Technical Governance 
 2. Partnering with Consumers 
 3. Model of Care. 

These standards comprise 59 actions related to clinical and technical aspects associated with the 
delivery of digital mental health services. Whilst there is no current accreditation process, On the Line has 
completed a self-assessment and gap analysis to prepare for certifi cation when it comes into eff ect. 
We anticipate we will apply for accreditation in the next fi nancial year.

Reconciliation Action Plan
Reconciliation strengthens relationships between Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and 
non-Indigenous people. One way to take meaningful action to advance reconciliation is through a 
Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP), adopting fi ve interrelated dimensions of reconciliation:

 1. Race Relations
 2. Equality and Equity
 3. Historical Acceptance
 4. Institutional Integrity  
 5. Unity.

On the Line has convened a Reconciliation Action Plan Working Group with membership open to any 
staff  member interested in reconciliation and how it can be a positive force for changing the culture, work 
practices, and core business of our organisation. In FY23, On the Line will present our RAP to Reconciliation 
Australia for endorsement.
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Lived and Living Experience Advisory 
Group (LLEAG)
 
Lived Experience is based on the fact that consumers and carers are the experts of their own 
experiences and lives and carry the wisdom to best articulate their needs. With the release of the 
Victorian Government’s Mental Health Lived Experience Engagement Framework in 2019, and in keeping 
with the Victorian Royal Commission and Productivity Commission Inquiry recommendations, it is timely 
for On the Line to progress with the development of a Lived and Living Experience Advisory Group.

We were delighted this year to appoint nationally recognised mental health and suicide prevention 
campaigner, Ingrid Ozols AM as the Inaugural Chair of On the Line’s fi rst Lived and Living Experience 
Advisory Group.

The LLEAG is made up of people with lived experience who bring their perspective and experience to 
shape the organisation, enhancing the lens by which strategic decisions are made. The knowledge 
and understanding of people with lived experience shapes language, intent, and purpose, and guides 
organisational decision-making. 

Research Partnership with Swinburne 
University of Technology 
Since November 2020, On the Line has been collaborating with Swinburne University on an innovative 
voice analysis project that looked at whether artifi cial intelligence had the potential to detect an 
imminent risk of suicide. 

PhD student Ravi Lyer developed an algorithm to distinguish between high and low levels of suicide 
risk in calls made to Suicide Call Back Service and the Canberra 000 Emergency Service. His work has 
recently been published in JMIR Mental Health.1  In this paper, he describes how 36 voice biomarkers were 
extracted from more than 470,000 40 milli-second speech frames taken from 281 calls. Eleven of these 
biomarkers were found to relate directly to suicide risk, with caller sex being a signifi cant moderator of 
these relationships. The fi nal machine learning model was able to correctly identify the level of suicide 
risk for 99.85% of all speech frames – a remarkable outcome.

This initial project has opened up many new opportunities for research partnerships between On the Line 
and Swinburne. We will be working together using a co-design process to identify these opportunities 
and decide how best to implement them. Another two PhD students, Yueming (Joyce) Gu and Ruvini 
Sanjeewa, are leading this co-design process. Joyce’s project will develop a framework for a decision 
support system that uses Ravi’s algorithm to provide real-time support to counsellors when speaking to 
consumers. Ruvini’s project will develop a framework for an empathetic triaging service, again supported 
by Ravi’s algorithm.

On the Line’s Clinical Council has also highlighted the importance of Lived Experience, making this an 
excellent time for this research partnership to fl ourish. We look forward to welcoming many more PhD 
students into this partnership.

1 Iyer, R, Nedeljkovic, M, Meyer, D. (2022). Using Voice Biomarkers to Classify Suicide Risk in Adult 
Telehealth Callers: a Retrospective Observational Study. JMIR Mental Health,9(8), e39807, DOI: 
10.2196/39807.
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Psychological Risk Register
Understanding what psychological challenges 
or hazards are present in our workplace and 
knowing how to reduce risk and injury associated 
with these is a great step to establishing risk 
controls. With this in mind, On the Line developed 
a new psychological risk register. The key 
objective of developing the register is to create 
an environment where our employees feel 
comfortable coming forward to off er feedback, 
express ideas and make suggestions. 

Productivity Matters Workshops
In 2021, On the Line engaged occupational 
health and safety consultants from Productivity 
Matters to run workshops with employees across 
the organisation to understand their views on 
improving health, safety and wellbeing at work. 

This involved an evaluation of our policies, 
processes, and engagement with employees to 
ensure we are keeping up to date with legislative 
changes while also meeting the specifi c needs 
of our workforce and individual roles. In early 
2022, Productivity Matters ran another series of 
workshops around psychological challenges to 
solicit suggestions on how we can make On the 
Line healthier and safer.  

New Converge App 
On the Line has partnered with Converge 
International to help employees optimise their 
health and wellbeing at work and home with free 
and unlimited access to the new Converge App. 
By combining the latest digital technology with 
an evidence-based approach, the app provides 
employees with various tools to help track and 
improve their mental and physical health.

People and 
Culture
Delivering services that help vulnerable 
people in the community is challenging 
work, and our devoted team provide 
high-quality support day in and day out. 
To sustain this, we know that maintaining 
the wellbeing of our employees is critical, 
which is why we led a range of new 
initiatives this year.
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Technology

New Case Management System
This year, we launched a new Case Management 
System (CMS) to meet future needs and better serve 
our consumers. Our IT team has worked diligently to 
refi ne the business requirements and work closely 
with key stakeholders to implement the system 
seamlessly across the organisation. 

The new CMS integrates into the new phone system 
launched three months earlier, allowing greater 
capability and fl exibility. One signifi cant advantage 
is that it is built to support multiple channels from 
the start, thus allowing On the Line to connect to 
consumers through diff erent modalities, reaching 
more people.

Cloud-fi rst Technology Strategy
On the Line has embraced technology and has
made all eff orts to leverage it fully. This includes 
adopting a Cloud-fi rst technology strategy. With our 
phone and case management systems now in the 
cloud, our attention is focused on other applications, 
platforms and services still running on-premises. Work 
is well underway to move these onto the Cloud. This 
body of work will enable On the Line employees to 
work anywhere in Australia and not us tie down to any 
single location. Additionally, this work has lowered any 
single point of failure, raising the level of resilience to 
outages to ensure we can deliver 100% of the time to 
our consumers.

This year marked a 
signifi cant milestone 
for the advancement 
of systems and 
technology at 
On the Line.
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While a challenging year from a fi nancial 
perspective, we were pleased to receive an 
unqualifi ed audit opinion from our external auditors, 
Walker Wayland.

During the year, the Finance Team worked in 
collaboration with Management and the Finance, 
Risk and Audit Committee to undertake an extensive 
fi nancial review of the organisation and implement 
some major changes to the organisation’s corporate 
support functions to reduce expenses and to put the 
organisation on a more sustainable footing, while 
prioritising service delivery. Sadly this meant that 
we had to reduce the number of staff  in corporate 
support in June 2022. Additionally, this also meant 
moving from our long term accommodation in 
Footscray to more modest offi  ces in Port Melbourne, 
a process that was completed in October 2022.

We continue to ensure we adhere to and maintain 
strong internal controls whilst proactively fi nding 
ways to strengthen our processes. We are excited 
about what FY23 may bring for On the Line and look 
forward to adding value to our consumers and, of 
course, bettering our fi nancial position.

ISO9001
We employed an experienced Internal Auditor 
to coordinate the ISO9001 quality management 
system audit and we achieved recertifi cation for 
a further three years. This involved a great deal of 
work from various internal stakeholders and included 
reviewing resources and documented processes 
for monitoring and reporting. Each department 
worked collaboratively to ensure recertifi cation was 
obtained.

Finance
This year saw some 
meaningful changes 
at On the Line. 

image?
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Governance
Approach to Corporate Governance 
 
On the Line Australia is governed in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profi ts Commission Act 2012 (Cth), the Constitution of On the Line Australia Ltd, 
and the Board Governance Charter. Our approach to corporate governance is based on a set of values 
and behaviours that underpin day-to-day activities, provide transparency, and protect the interests of 
stakeholders.

Independent Governance Review
During 2021-22, the Board commissioned Conscious Governance to conduct an independent 
governance review. The Board accepted all recommendations and embarked on a multi-year program 
of continuous improvement, with Conscious Governance scheduled to return to the organisation in 
September 2022 to undertake an independent progress check.

Board Structure
The Board of On the Line Australia may have up to nine directors. 

The functions reserved for the Board and those delegated to management are formally documented in 
the Board Governance Charter, Director Letter of Appointment, and Delegations of Authority Policy. 

The Board has established the following standing sub-committees:

 • Clinical Governance Committee
 • Governance Committee
 • Finance, Risk and Audit Committee

In 2021-22, On the Line Australia farewelled the following directors: Jeannette Jifkins and Dr Nicholas 
Voudouris.
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On 30 June 2022, the following directors were in offi  ce:

The Board was delighted to appoint the following new directors in July 2022:

During the year, and guided by the independent governance review, the Board developed a new 
director skills, experience and diversity register and conducted a national recruitment campaign for 
new directors. 

Professor Steve Moylan
Board Chair

Director since October 2017
BSc, BMBS (Hons), MPH (Harvard), 
MPM, MBA, PhD, GAICD, FRANZCP 
Cert. Old Age PsychWe

Gordon Botwright
GAICD, GCert (Risk Management)

Paul Gladman
Finance, Risk & Audit 
Committee Chair

Director since 
November 2016
MBA, GAICD

Nicki Batagol
BEc Hons, Grad Dip Arts (Asian 
Studies), GAICD, WCLP 2018

Georgie Ibbott
Deputy Board Chair

Director since October 2017
BCom, MBA, GAICD

Julianne Anderson
Director since October 2017
FCA, GAICD

Luke Rycken
BHSc and Master of Clinical 
Prosthetics and Orthotics

Sally Hasler
Governance 
Committee Chair

Director since 
November 2016
BA(Hons), GCertAdHlth, MPP, GAICD

Arvind Shanmuga 
Nathan 
Director from October 2017 
and retired August 2022
BSc, MBus (SC&Tec), GAICD
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On the Line 
provides free 
counselling 
24 hours a day, 
7 days a week.
If you need support, visit:
ontheline.org.au/get-help
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ON THE LINE AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
ABN 33 185 295 654 

 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 
Your Board of Directors present this report of On the Line Australia Limited for the financial year ended 30 
June 2022. In order to comply with the provisions of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Act 2012 (ACNC Act), the Directors report as follows: 
 
Directors 
The names of each person who has been a Director during the year and to the date of this report are: 

 Prof. Steven Moylan (Chair) (effective 1st January 2022) 
 Jeanette Jifkins (Chair) (resigned effective 31st December 2021) 
 Julianne Anderson  
 Paul Gladman  
 Sally Hasler 
 Georgie Ibbott 
 Arvind Nathan 
 Dr Nicholas Voudouris (resigned effective 27th October 2021) 

 
Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise 
stated. 
 
Directors' Qualifications, Experience and Special Responsibilities 
 
Prof. Steven Moylan 
Chair of the Board, Director, Clinical Governance Committee Chair | October 2017 
BSc, BMBS(Hons), MPH (Harvard,) MPM, MBA, PhD, GAICD, FRANZCP Cert. Old 
Age Psych 
Prof Steve Moylan is a well-accomplished psychiatrist and current Clinical Director of Barwon Health Mental 
Health, Drugs and Alcohol services and Affiliate Professor with Deakin University School of Medicine. He has 
a strong interest in medical leadership and governance, clinical care, and research in psychiatry.  
 
In 2009, Steve was awarded the prestigious Frank Knox Memorial Fellowship to undertake specialist public 
health, leadership and management training at Harvard University, and has since completed his MBA with 
Deakin University. As the Clinical Director of Barwon Health Mental Health, Drugs and Alcohol services, 
Steve leads a broad team of psychiatrists, trainees and specialists to provide high-quality mental health care 
in Southwest Victoria. Steve is also current Director of the Victorian Collaborative Centre for Mental Health 
and Wellbeing, and Director at Mental Health Victoria.  
 
 
Jeanette Jifkins 
Director and Previous Chair (to 31st December 2021) | June 2013 
LLB, LLM, GDipLP, GAICD 
Jeanette was appointed Chair of the On the Line Board in December 2015. She is a dedicated and inspiring 
senior lawyer with more than 20 years of experience across a wide range of private practice and in-house 
environments, including Mills Oakley Lawyers, and five years as in-house legal counsel with the Australian 
Psychological Society. Jeanette is the founder and Principal of Onyx Legal, a boutique law firm that provides 
legal solutions for online businesses. 
 
Known for her practical and strategic approach, Jeanette is an experienced Board member contributing 
balanced and effective business governance solutions. In addition to her role as Chair of On the Line, 
Jeanette is a Member of the Queensland Law Society, the Australian Institute of Company Directors, Women 
on Boards and Associate Member of auDA. 
 
With a keen interest in psychological services, Jeanette has also written and published a wide range of 
articles on ethics and legal responsibilities in psychology. 
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Julianne Anderson 
Director | October 2017 
FCA, GAICD 
Julianne Anderson is a finance executive who has found success leading teams in complex organisations, 
both within Australia and internationally. She is a highly regarded business partner who provides expertise in 
all facets of financial management and is passionate about mentoring and coaching the next generation of 
finance leaders. 
 
Julianne held various finance executive roles spanning a 26-year career with ExxonMobil. Career highlights 
included process change implementation, efficiency improvements, re-design of financial controls and 
financial management of a major construction project. At Mobil Oil New Zealand, Julianne successfully led a 
large team through a global merger and significant organisation culture change. 
 
 
Paul Gladman 
Director and Chair of Finance, Risk and Audit Committee | November 2016 
MBA, GAICD 
Paul Gladman is an experienced senior executive with a combination of skills in strategy development and 
implementation, marketing, operations management, product management and IT within the Australian 
financial services industry. With particular expertise in general and private health insurance, he joined the On 
the Line Board as a Director in October 2016. 
 
Paul is highly experienced developing effective communication between senior executive teams and their 
Boards. He is a future-oriented leader, adept at using risk management to facilitate better decision making 
across all functions and levels of an organisation. 
 
 
Sally Hasler 
Director and Chair of Governance Committee | November 2016 
BA(Hons), GCertAdHlth, MPP, GAICD 
Sally Hasler brings senior experience working in government and not-for-profit organisations in Australia and 
Asia. She is currently a Director in the Victorian Government having previously worked at The Fred Hollows 
Foundation, the Women’s Foundation Hong Kong and various roles in the Commonwealth Government. 
 
A Non-executive Director on the Board of St John Ambulance Australia for the past 12 years, Sally has been 
an active volunteer with St John since 1993 at a national and international level. Driven and passionate 
about improved health, education and gender outcomes, Sally brings expertise in public policy, governance, 
social inclusion, government relations, and business-community partnerships to the On the Line Board. 
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Georgie Ibbott 
Director and Chair of Digital Transformation Committee | October 2017 
BCom, MBA, GAICD 
Georgie is a dynamic leader and purpose-led non-executive director who focuses on her diverse portfolio of 
state and national directorships. She applies her experience as a former executive, CEO and consultant to 
her non-executive director appointments spanning government, for-purpose and the community sectors. 
Georgie builds aligned and sustainable organisations that harness the collective wisdom, skill and expertise 
of all stakeholders to deliver agreed organisational outcomes and results. 
 
Georgie has a keen interest in the community and health sectors and holds a number of non-executive 
director positions. She is currently chair and non-executive Director at Volunteering Tasmania and concluded 
her term as the Independent Chair of Audit & Risk Committee at the Tasmanian Audit Office in June 2022. 
Georgie is a graduate member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and an Associate Fellow of 
the Australian Marketing Institute. Her qualifications include Master of Business Administration, Bachelor of 
Commerce and the AICD Company Directors Course. 

 
 

Arvind Nathan 
Director | October 2017 
BSc, MBus (Sc&Tec), GAICD 
With his science and business background, Arvind Nathan is in a relentless pursuit to create meaningful 
impact in emerging technology. He is currently a Senior Technology Specialist at a major 
telecommunications company where his passion is to simplify complex technology to help address strategic 
customer transformation objectives focusing on Education, Health and FSI.  
 
Previous organisations include Philips Lighting where he worked on their research-driven higher education 
and smart city/campus solutions as well as independent advisory roles focusing on digital transformation and 
smart city feasibility studies. This has culminated into a unique understanding of the digital landscape from 
disruptive strategies through to the technology tools to enable change and how to navigate this journey. 
 
 
Dr Nicholas Voudouris 
Director and Chair of Nominations and Remuneration Committee | June 2013 
PhD, MAICD 
Nicholas is an experienced CEO and non-executive director with deep knowledge of the health sector. He 
has extensive executive experience in small-to-medium enterprises and has held a wide variety of leadership 
positions, which includes a track record of successfully leading boards, organisations, coalitions of 
organisations and professional groups. Nicholas was originally trained as a clinical psychologist and he 
worked for over 20 years in public psychiatric services, community mental health and general hospital 
settings. 
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Directors' Meetings Attendance 
The table below sets out the number of Board and Board Committee meetings held and the number of 
meetings attended by each Director. 

 

This table excludes: 

 one Board Strategy Day to which all Directors (8) were eligible and all attended; 

 the Digital Transformation Committee did not meet during this period and was discontinued by the 
Board on 16th September 2021; and 

 the Board approved the appointment of three new Directors at its 28th June 2022 Board meeting, 
however the incoming Directors did not sign the ASIC Consent to Act as Director form until after 30th 
June 2022.  

 
Moira Linton 
MBus, GIA(Cert) 
Company Secretary 
Moira Linton is a member of the Governance Institute of Australia and has been an experienced Company 
Secretary since 2012. Moira is responsible for the company secretarial functions of the Company. 
 

 Board FRAC CGAC Governance 
No. of meetings held Eligible 

(6 in 2021) 
(6 in 2022) 

Attended Eligible 
(4 in 2021) 
(6 in 2022) 

Attended Eligible 
(2 in 2021) 
(2 in 2022) 

Attended Eligible 
(2 in 2021) 
(1 in 2022) 

Attended 

Steve Moylan 12 12 Observer 4 4 4 Observer 3 

Jeanette Jifkins 4 4 2 2 1 1   

Julianne Anderson 12 12 10 10     

Paul Gladman 12 11 10 10 3 3   

Sally Hasler 12 11     3 3 

Arvind Nathan 12 11     3 3 

Nicholas Voudouris 4 4 1 1     

Georgie Ibbott 12 12 Observer  3   Observer 1 
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Members' Liability 
The Company is registered with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission and is an Australian 
public company limited by guarantee under the Corporations Act 2001. If the Company is wound up, the 
Constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of $1 towards meeting any 
outstanding obligations of the Company. As at 30 June 2022 the total amount that members of the Company 
are liable to contribute if the Company is wound up is $6. (2021: $8). 
 
Principal Activities 
The principal activities of the Company during the financial year were to provide specialist telephone and 
online counselling services. 
 
Operating Result 
The loss for the year amounted to $1,085,960 (2021: profit of $1,627,142) 
 
No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected 
or may significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations, or the state of 
affairs of the Company in future financial years. 
 
Short and Long Term Objectives 
As outlined in the Company's Constitution, the Objects, both short and long term, for which On the Line 
Australia Limited is established are to: 

1. Improve the lives of vulnerable and disadvantaged people through the provision of professional 
remote counselling and wellbeing services. 

2. Increase access to professional counselling and wellbeing services for people who are emotionally, 
socially, economically and/or geographically isolated throughout Australia. 

3. Promote health and wellbeing outcomes identified through service provision to influence policy and 
programs that will assist the vulnerable and disadvantaged to continue to access remote counselling 
and information services. 

4. Doing all other things which are necessary or expedient to further the Objects. 
 
In pursuing these objectives, On the Line Australia Limited is focused on four strategy pillars: 

1. Sustainability and growth - Diversify our funding sources and develop a more client centric model of 
service delivery. 

2. Customers - Create a market-oriented business to meet the needs of our clients. 
3. People - Position ourselves to be healthier and stronger for the sake of our clients and our people 

through high quality services. 
4. Technology and operational effectiveness - Create smarter, more adaptive and agile ways of 

sengaging with our services. 
 
Measurement of Performance 
On the Line Australia Limited continues to employ both financial and non-financial indicators to measure 
performance to ensure that the Company’s resources are being utilised in both an efficient and effective 
manner. 
 
Financial: 

i. General Financial Performance focusing on sustainable revenue and growth and working capital 
ratio. 

ii. Service Efficiency including ratio of service expenses to both service funding and total expenditure. 
iii. Administrative Efficiency including ratio of administrative expenses to both revenue and total 

expenditure. 
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Non-Financial 

i. Input Focus including number of staff hours on each service and number of full time employees 
ii. Output Focus including number of counselling sessions delivered across all channels 
iii. Efficiency Focus including cost per counselling session delivered across all channels 
iv. Effectiveness Focus including client feedback regarding counselling services and employee 

satisfaction 
 
Significant Changes 
No significant change in the nature of these activities occurred during the year.  
 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under s.60-40 of the Australian Charities and 
Not for Profits Commission Act 2012 is set out on page 10. 
 
 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 

  
 

Prof. Steven Moylan  Paul Gladman 
 

Dated this 25th day of October 2022. 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

 

Independent Member of Walker Wayland Australasia Limited,  
an association of independent accounting firms. 

 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under professional standards legislation.  

 

Walker Wayland Advantage Audit Partnership 

Audit, Assurance & Risk Advisory 

Level 7, 114 William Street 

Melbourne VIC 3000 

Australia 

ABN 47 075 804 075 

T +61 3 9274 0600 

F +61 3 9274 0660 

audit@wwadvantage.com.au 

wwadvantage.com.au 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
UNDER SECTION 60-40  
OF THE AUSTRALIAN CHARITIES AND NOT FOR PROFITS COMMISSION ACT 2012 
TO THE DIRECTORS OF ON THE LINE AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
 
 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2022 there 
have been: 
 

a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Australian Charities 
and Not for Profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and 

 
b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 
  
 
 
WALKER WAYLAND ADVANTAGE AUDIT PARTNERSHIP              
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS                                                             
 
 
 
 
AWAIS UR REHMAN 
PARTNER 
 
 
 
 
Dated in Melbourne on this          day of                                   2022 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

25th October
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ON THE LINE AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
ABN 33 185 295 654 

 
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 
 

 
 

 
Note 

2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

    
INCOME    

Operating grants 2 (a) 13,306,608 16,892,185 

Donations 2 (b) 127,363  141,978  

Interests and dividends  146,557  180,936 

Other   240,269  308,475  

Total Income  13,820,797  17,523,574  

    

EXPENDITURE    

Depreciation   630,668   543,327  

IT and communications   1,405,112   1,760,313  

Property   159,017   178,473  

Employee benefits and training  11,454,112  12,201,839  

Consultants and contractors   487,686   667,669  

Other       770,162   544,811  

Total Expenditure 3 14,906,757 15,896,432 

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX  (1,085,960)  1,627,142  

Income tax expense 1.2 -  -   

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  (1,085,960)  1,627,142  

Other comprehensive income:    

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  -  -   

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  (1,085,960)  1,627,142 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
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ON THE LINE AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
ABN 33 185 295 654 

 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2022 
 

 
  

Note 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
CURRENT ASSETS    
Cash and cash equivalents 4  2,879,991   4,101,825  

Trade and other receivables 5  970,030   738,493  

Total Current Assets   3,850,021   4,840,318  

 
NON CURRENT ASSETS 

   

Trade and other receivables 5  201,164   201,164  

Right-of-use asset 6  91,589   1,820,064  

Plant and equipment 7  244,346   373,879  

Intangible assets 8 830,529  1,038,304  

Financial assets 9 2,633,238  2,899,827  

Total Non Current Assets   4,000,866  6,333,238  

 
TOTAL ASSETS 

  
 7,850,887 11,173,556 

 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 

  
 

 
 

Trade and other payables 11  706,825  1,170,242 

Provisions 13 649,871   494,778  

Contract liability 12  546,709  285,829  

Lease liability 6  95,725   300,694  

Total Current Liabilities                     1,999,130  2,251,543 

 
NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 

   

Provisions 13 40,472   212,869  

Lease liability 6  6,451   1,818,350  

Total Non Current Liabilities  46,923  2,031,219  

 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 

  
2,046,053 

 
4,282,762 

 
NET ASSETS 

  
5,804,834 6,890,794 

 
EQUITY 

   

Accumulated surplus  5,804,834 6,890,794 
 
TOTAL EQUITY 

 
 5,804,834 6,890,794 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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ON THE LINE AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
ABN 33 185 295 654 

 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 
 
 

  
Note 

2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:    

Receipts from grants   14,581,974    17,748,285  

Interest and dividends received  146,557   180,936  

Donations  127,363  191,978  

Payments to suppliers and employees  (15,655,411)    (17,142,807) 

Interest expense on lease  (24,255)  (118,521) 

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 15 (823,772)   859,871 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:    

Purchase of plant and equipment          (4,005)  (207,502) 

Purchase of intangible assets   (31,052)  (1,063,288) 

      Proceeds from financial assets   43,641   105,148  

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  8,584  (1,165,642) 

    

CASH FLOWS FORM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:    

      Repayment of lease – principal  (406,647)  (159,162) 

NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (406,647)  (159,162) 

    

Net decrease in cash held  (1,221,834)   (464,933) 

 
CASH AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 

                        
4,101,825 

  
4,566,758  

    
CASH AT THE END OF THE YEAR 4 2,879,991   4,101,825  

    

    

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
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ON THE LINE AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
ABN 33 185 295 654 

 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 

 
 
 Accumulated Surplus Total
 $ $ 
BALANCE AT 1 JULY 2020 5,263,652 5,263,652 

Profit for the year  1,627,142    1,627,142 

Other comprehensive income -  -   

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME      1,627,142      1,627,142 

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2021 6,890,794 6,890,794 

   

BALANCE AT 1 JULY 2021 6,890,794 6,890,794 

Loss for the year (1,085,960) (1,085,960) 

Other comprehensive income - - 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (1,085,960) (1,085,960) 

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2022 5,804,834 5,804,834 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements  
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ON THE LINE AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
ABN 33 185 295 654 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 
 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The financial report is for On the Line Australia Limited as an individual Company. On the Line Australia 
Limited is a public company limited by guarantee, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  
 
1.1 Financial Reporting Framework 
The Directors have prepared the financial statements on the basis that the Company is a non-reporting entity 
because there are no users dependent on general purpose financial statements. These financial statements 
are therefore special purpose financial statements that have been prepared in order to meet the 
requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012. The Company is a not-for-
profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the mandatory Australian Accounting 
Standards applicable to entities reporting under the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 
2012 and the significant accounting policies disclosed below, which the Directors have determined are 
appropriate to meet the needs of members. Such accounting policies are consistent with those of previous 
periods unless stated otherwise. 
 
Statement of Compliance 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the mandatory Australian Accounting 
Standards applicable to entities reporting under the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 
2012, the basis of accounting specified by all Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and the 
disclosure requirements of Accounting Standards AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements, AASB 
107: Cash Flow Statements, AASB 108: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, 
and AASB 1054: Australian Additional Disclosures. 
 
Basis of Preparation 
The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accrual basis and 
are based on historical costs unless otherwise stated in the notes. Material accounting policies adopted in 
the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless 
stated otherwise. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest 
dollar. 
 
Accounting Policies 
 
1.2 Income Tax Exemption 
The Company is exempt from income tax under Div 50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.   
 
1.3 Plant and Equipment 
Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated, less, where applicable, 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 
 
Plant and Equipment 
Plant and equipment are measured on a cost basis and are therefore carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. In the event the carrying amount of plant and 
equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down 
immediately to the estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by Directors to ensure it is not in excess of 
the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the 
expected net cash flows that will be received from the assets employment and subsequent disposal. The 
expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts. 
Plant and equipment that have been contributed at no cost or for nominal cost are valued at the fair value of 
the asset at the date it is acquired. 
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ON THE LINE AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
ABN 33 185 295 654 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 
 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 
 
1.3 Plant and Equipment (cont’d) 
 
Depreciation 
The depreciable amount of all plant and equipment including building and capitalised lease assets, but 
excluding freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives to the Company 
commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over 
the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.  
 
The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 
 
Class of Fixed Asset     Depreciation Rate 
Plant and equipment               20-33% 
Leasehold improvements     7% 
 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting 
date. Asset classes carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. Gains and losses on disposals are 
determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains or losses are included in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. When revalued assets are sold, amounts 
included in the revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to accumulated surplus. 
 
1.4 Financial Instruments 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the Company 
commits itself to either the purchase or the sale of the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted). 
 
Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, 
except where the instrument is classified "at fair value through profit or loss", in which case transaction costs 
are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Where available, quoted prices in an active market are used to 
determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted. 
 
Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the trade receivables do not contain a 
significant financing component or if the practical expedient was applied as specified in paragraph 63 of 
AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers. 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement 
 
Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at:  
- amortised cost; or  
- fair value through profit or loss. 
 
A financial liability is measured at fair value through profit or loss if the financial liability is: 
- held for trading; or 
- initially designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 
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ON THE LINE AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
ABN 33 185 295 654 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 
 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 
 
1.4 Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement (cont’d) 
 
Financial liabilities (cont’d) 
All other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest expense in profit or loss over the relevant period. 
 
The effective interest rate is the internal rate of return of the financial asset or liability, that is, it is the rate 
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the instrument to the net 
carrying amount recognition. 
 
A financial liability is held for trading if it is: 
- incurred for the purpose of repurchasing or repaying in the near term; 
- part of a portfolio where there is an actual pattern of short-term profit taking; or 
- a derivative financial instrument (except tor a derivative that is in a financial guarantee contract or a 

derivative that is in an effective hedging relationship). 
Any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship. 
 
The change in fair value of the financial liability attributable to changes in the issuer's credit risk is taken to 
other comprehensive income and is not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Instead, it is transferred to 
retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability. 
 
If taking the change in credit risk in other comprehensive income enlarges or creates an accounting 
mismatch, then these gains or losses should be taken to profit or loss rather than other comprehensive 
income. 
 
A financial liability cannot be reclassified. 
 
Financial assets 
Financial assets are subsequently measured at: 
- amortised cost; 
- fair value through other comprehensive income; or  
- fair value through profit or loss on the basis of the two primary criteria: 

o the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset; and 
o the business model for managing the financial assets. 

 
A financial asset is subsequently measured at amortised cost if it meets the following conditions: 
- the financial asset is managed solely to collect contractual cash flows; and 
- the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates. 
 
A financial asset is subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if it meets the 
following conditions: 
- the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates; and 
- the business model for managing the financial asset comprises both contractual cash flows 

collection and the selling of the financial asset. 
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ON THE LINE AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
ABN 33 185 295 654 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 
 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 
 
1.4 Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement (cont’d) 
 
Financial assets (cont’d) 
By default, all other financial assets that do not meet the conditions of amortised cost and the fair value 
through other comprehensive income’s measurement condition are subsequently measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. 
 
The Company initially designates a financial instrument as measured at fair value through profit or loss if: 
- it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (often referred to 

as “accounting mismatch”) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or 
recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases; 

- it is in accordance to the documented risk management or investment strategy and information about 
the groupings was documented appropriately, so as the performance of the financial liability that was 
part of a group of financial liabilities or financial assets can be managed and evaluated consistently 
on a fair value basis; and 

- it is a hybrid contract that contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash flows 
otherwise required by the contract, 

 
The initial designation of the financial instruments to measure at fair value through profit or loss is a one-time 
option on initial classification and is irrevocable until the financial asset is derecognised. 
 
Derecognition 
Derecognition refers to the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from the 
statement of financial position. 
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (i.e. when the obligation in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expires), an exchange of an existing financial liability for a new one with substantially modified 
terms, or a substantial modification to the terms of a financial liability, is treated as an extinguishment of the 
existing liability and recognition of a new financial liability. 
 
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid 
and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Derecognition of financial assets 
A financial asset is derecognised when the holder’s contractual rights to its cash flows expires, or the asset is 
transferred in such a way that all the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially transferred. 
 
All the following criteria need to be satisfied for the derecognition of a financial asset: 
- the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred; 
- all risk and rewards of ownership of the asset have been substantially transferred; and 
- the Company no longer controls the asset (i.e. it has no practical ability to make unilateral decisions 

to sell the asset to a third party). 
 
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset's 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. 
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ON THE LINE AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
ABN 33 185 295 654 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 
 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 
 
1.4 Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 
Derecognition of financial assets (cont’d) 
On derecognition of a debt instrument classified as fair value through other comprehensive income, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit 
or loss. 
 
On derecognition of an investment in equity which was elected to be classified under fair value through other 
comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment’s revaluation 
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings. 
 
Impairment 
The Company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on: 
- financial assets that are measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive 

income; lease receivables; 
 
Loss allowance is not recognised for: 
- financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss; or 
- equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 
 
Expected credit losses are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of a 
financial instrument, A credit loss is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due and all 
cash flows expected to be received, all discounted at the original effective interest rate of the financial 
instrument. 
 
The Company use the following approaches to impairment, as applicable under AASB 9: 
 
Simplified approach 
The simplified approach does not require tracking of changes in credit risk at every reporting period, but 
instead requires the recognition of lifetime expected credit loss at all times. 
 
This approach is applicable to trade receivables or contract assets that results from transactions that are 
within the scope of AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers, that contain a significant financing 
component;  
 
The Company has assessed the impairment on its receivables and has concluded that no allowance is 
necessary. 
 
1.5 Impairment of Assets 
At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs of 
disposal and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying 
amount over its recoverable amount is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
 
Where the future economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent upon the asset’s ability to 
generate net cash inflows and when the Company would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining 
future economic benefits, value in use is determined as the depreciated replacement cost of an asset. 
 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of a class of asset, the Company estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
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ON THE LINE AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
ABN 33 185 295 654 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 
 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 
 
1.5 Impairment of Assets (cont’d) 
Where an impairment loss on a revalued asset is identified, this is debited against the revaluation surplus in 
respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the 
revaluation surplus for that same class of asset. 
 
1.6 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at-call with banks, other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. 
 
1.7 Trade and Other Receivables 
Trade and other receivables include amounts due from donors and any outstanding grant receipts.  
Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are classified as 
current assets.  All other receivables are classified as non-current assets. 
 
Trade receivable are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. Refer to Note 1.4 for further discussion on the 
determination of impairment losses. 
 
1.8 Revenue Recognition 
The Company applies AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers (AASB 15) and AASB 1058: 
Income of Not-for-Profit Entities (AASB 1058).  
 
Operating Grants, Donations and Bequests 
When the Company received operating grant revenue, donations or bequests, it assesses whether the 
contract is enforceable and has sufficiently specific performance obligations in accordance with AASB 15. 
 
When both these conditions are satisfied, the Company: – identifies each performance obligation relating to 
the grant – recognises a contract liability for its obligations under the agreement – recognises revenue as it 
satisfies its performance obligations. Where the contract is not enforceable or does not have sufficiently 
specific performance obligations, the Company: 
- recognises the asset received in accordance with the recognition requirements of other applicable 

accounting standards (for example AASB 9. AASB 16, AASB 116 and AASB 138); 
- recognises related amounts (being contributions by owners, lease liability, financial instruments, 

provisions, revenue or contract liability arising from a contract with a customer); and 
- recognises income immediately in profit or loss as the difference between the initial carrying amount 

of the asset and the related amount. 
 
If a contract liability is recognised as a related amount above, the Company recognises income in profit or 
loss when or as it satisfies its obligations under the contract. 
 
Interest Income 
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. 
 
Dividend Income 
The Company recognises dividends in profit or loss only when the Company’s right to receive payment of the 
dividend is established. 
 
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax. 
 
1.9 Operating Expenses 
Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or at the date of their 
origin. 
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ON THE LINE AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
ABN 33 185 295 654 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 
 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 
 
1.10 Computer Software and Information Technology Support 
Intangible assets including software development that have been developed and have finite useful lives are 
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.  
 
The Company also allocates following internal costs to the software development in line with AASB 138: 
Intangible Assets (AASB 138) 
(a) costs of materials and services used or consumed in generating the intangible asset; 
(b) costs of employee benefits (as defined in AASB 119) arising from the generation of the intangible 

asset.  
 
The Company’s policy is to not allocate the following costs to software development: 
(a) selling, administrative and other general overhead expenditure unless this expenditure can be 

directly attributed to preparing the asset for use; 
(b) identified inefficiencies and initial operating losses incurred before the asset achieves planned 

performance; and 
(c) expenditure on training staff to operate the asset. 
 
Amortisation 
Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using 
the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognised in profit or loss.  
The estimated useful lives for current and comparative periods are as follows: 
 
Class of Fixed Asset     Useful Lives 
Software development cost        2-5 years 
 
1.11 Leases 
At inception of a contract, the Company assesses if the contract contains or is a lease. If there is a lease 
present, a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability is recognised by the Company where the 
Company is a lessee. However, all contracts that are classified as short-term leases (lease with remaining 
lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an operating expense on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
 
Initially, the lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments still to be paid at the 
commencement date. The lease payments are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate 
cannot be readily determined, the Company uses the incremental borrowing rate. 
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are as follows: 

- fixed lease payments less any lease incentives; 
- variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at 

the commencement date; 
- the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 
- the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; 
- lease payments under extension options if lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and 
- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to 

terminate the lease. 
 
The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability as mentioned 
above, any lease payments made at or before the commencement date as well as any initial direct costs. 
The subsequent measurement of the right-of-use assets is at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. 
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ON THE LINE AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
ABN 33 185 295 654 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 
 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 
 
1.11 Leases (cont’d) 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term or useful life of the underlying asset whichever is the 
shortest. Where a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset 
reflects that the Company anticipates to exercise a purchase option, the specific asset is depreciated over 
the useful life of the underlying asset. 
 
1.12 Employee Benefits 
Provision is made for the Company’s obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee 
benefits are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 12 
months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service, 
including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the (undiscounted) 
amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled. 
 
The Company’s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and sick leave are 
recognised as part of current trade and other payables in the statement of financial position. 
 
Other Long-term Employee Benefits 
Provision is made for employees’ long service leave and annual leave entitlements not expected to be 
settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render 
the related service. Other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the expected 
future payments to be made to employees. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated future wage 
and salary levels, durations of service and employee departures and are discounted at rates determined by 
reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds that have maturity dates 
that approximate the terms of the obligations. Upon the remeasurement of obligations for other long-term 
employee benefits, the net change in the obligation is recognised in profit or loss as part of employee 
benefits expense. 
 
The Company’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current provisions in its 
statement of financial position, except where the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period, in which case the obligations are 
presented as current provisions. 
 
1.13 Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past 
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably 
measured. Provisions recognised represent the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation 
at the end of the reporting period.  
 
1.14 Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). 
 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount 
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the 
statement of financial position. 
 
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash 
flows included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers. 
 
1.15 Comparative Figures 
Where required by Accounting Standards comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current year. 
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ON THE LINE AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
ABN 33 185 295 654 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 
 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 
 
1.16 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments 
The Company evaluates estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report based on historical 
knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future 
events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the 
Company. 
 
Key Estimate – Impairment 
Management assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Company 
that may lead to impairment of assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset is determined as described above in Note 1.5. Management has determined that there is no 
impairment charge required for the financial year ended 30 June 2022. 
 
Key Judgements – Performance obligations under AASB 15 
To identify a performance obligation under AASB 15, the promise must be sufficiently specific to be able to 
determine when the obligation is satisfied. Management exercises judgement to determine whether the 
promise is sufficiently specific by taking into account any conditions specified in the arrangement, explicit or 
implicit, regarding the promised goods or services. In making this assessment, management includes the 
nature/ type, cost/ value, quantity and the period of transfer related to the goods or services promised. 
 
Key Judgements – Lease Term and Option to Extend under AASB 16 
The lease term is defined as the non-cancellable period of a lease together with both periods covered by an 
option to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and also periods 
covered by an option to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise that option. 
The options that are reasonably going to be exercised is a key management judgement that the Company 
will make. The Company determines the likeliness to exercise the options on a lease-by-lease basis looking 
at various factors such as which assets are strategic and which are key to future strategy of the Company.  
 
1.17 Adoption of New and Revised Accounting Standards 
The Company adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the IASB that are 
relevant to its operations and effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2021. It has 
been determined by the Company, there is no impact, material or otherwise, of the new and revised 
standards and interpretations on its business and therefore no change is necessary to Company accounting 
policies.  



 

 
Page 23 

ON THE LINE AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
ABN 33 185 295 654 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 
 
  

Note 
     2022

$
   2021

$
NOTE 2: REVENUE    
(a) Operating Grants:   
- Family services 5,546,001   6,019,113  

 - Suicide services  3,997,676   3,433,111   

- Other services  3,762,931   7,439,961  

  13,306,608    16,892,185  

(b) Donations:   
- Donations              75,000   100,000  
- Others              52,363   41,978  

            127,363   141,978  
 
NOTE 3: EXPENSES   
Depreciation expense:   
- Leasehold improvement              43,746   43,802  

(b) - Computer equipment              70,153   144,048  
- Office equipment               8,968   11,962  
- Development cost            173,510   24,984  
- Leased building            291,307   281,196  
- Leased plant and equipment              42,984  37,335 

            630,668   543,327  

IT and communications:   
- IT hardware, computer software and support            847,819   790,177  
- Advertising            409,095   689,686  
- Others            148,198   280,450  

         1,405,112   1,760,313  

Property expenses:   
- Insurance  36,961   32,833  
- Cleaning  34,885   52,817  
- Fees and charges  43,452   36,782  
- Others  43,719   56,041  

  159,017   178,473  

Employee benefits expenses:   
- Salaries 9,994,377    10,602,483  

- Superannuation            947,567    1,032,413  

- Workcover              95,474   123,187  

- Temporary staff            259,076   227,886  

- HR & recruitment              92,604   99,934  

- Others               65,014   115,936  

       11,454,112    12,201,839  
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     2022 

$ 
   2021 

$ 
NOTE 3: EXPENSES (Cont’d)   
Consultants and contractors:   
- Accounting             311,581    304,618  

- Legal              83,121    102,242  

- External consultants              27,069   194,564  

- Board              37,557   32,506  

- Others              28,358   33,739  

            487,686    667,669  

Others:   
- Landline telephone and internet            369,851   383,303  

- Lease interest              24,255   118,522  

- Travel  791   10,700  

- Others            375,265   32,286  

            770,162   544,811  

   

Total expenses 14,906,757 15,896,432 
 

 
NOTE 4: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   
Cash in hand and at bank 2,879,991   4,101,825  

 2,879,991   4,101,825  

   

Cash tied to unexpended grants            546,709    285,829 

Cash unrestricted         2,333,282  3,815,996 

            2,879,991  4,101,825 

 
NOTE 5: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES   
Current   
Trade debtors            677,640  249,095 
Accrued income            221,620   333,992  
Prepayments               70,770   155,406  

            970,030   738,493  

   
Non current   
Prepayments and deposits 201,164 201,164 

 201,164  201,164  

Please also refer to Note 19.   
 

NOTE 6: RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITY   
The Company’s lease portfolio includes an office, two Kyocera printers and one hundred HP PC's.  
 
The office is non-cancellable with 5 years terms (with the option to extend for 5 years). Rental is payable 
monthly in advance, increase by fixed percentage of 3.35% on each anniversary date and expires in 
August 2022. During the year, Management decided not to extend the office lease. As a result, there was 
a lease modification which has resulted in a write-down of the Right-of-use asset carrying value. 
 
Kyocera printers is non-cancellable with 4 years terms (without the option to extend). Rental is payable 
monthly in advance and expires in June 2022. HP PC's lease is non-cancellable with 3 years terms 
(without the option to extend). Rental is payable monthly in advance and expires in June 2024. 
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     2022 

$ 
   2021 

$ 
NOTE 6: RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITY (Cont’d) 
(i) AASB 16 related amounts recognised in the balance sheet   

   

Leased buildings            921,641        2,296,433  
Accumulated depreciation (852,868)          (562,391) 
 68,773        1,734,042  
Leased plant and equipment            110,670           130,062  
Accumulated depreciation (87,854)           (44,040) 
 22,816           86,022  
Total right-of-use asset 91,589 1,820,064 

   

Movement in carrying amounts:   

Balance at 1 July          1,820,064   2,027,981  
Additions during the year                    -    110,671  
Write-down during the period (1,394,184)   -   
Total right-of-use asset 425,880   2,138,652  
Depreciation during the period (334,291)   (318,588) 
Net carrying value at the end of the period              91,589   1,820,064  
   
(ii) Commitments - AASB 16 Lease Liabilities (discounted)   
- Not later than one year              95,725           300,694  
Current lease liabilities              95,725           300,694  
   
- Later than one year and not later than five years               6,451  1,347,280 
- Later than five years                    -   471,070 
Non current lease liabilities               6,451        1,818,350  

   
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets:   
Leased building 291,307  281,196  
Leased plant and equipment 42,984  37,335  
Interest expense 24,255  118,522  
Total recognised in statement of profit or loss            358,546  437,053 

 
NOTE 7: PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
Computer equipment – at cost            163,275   562,330  
Less: accumulated depreciation (136,231)   (463,747) 

              27,044   98,583  

Office equipment – at cost              24,549   44,516  
Less: accumulated depreciation (6,929)   (12,648) 

              17,620   31,868  

Leasehold improvements – at cost            621,159  621,159  
Less: accumulated depreciation (421,477) (377,731) 

            199,682   243,428  
Total plant and equipment            244,346  373,879 
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NOTE 7: PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
Plant and equipment movement:           

 Computer 
equipment 

Office 
equipment 

Leasehold 
improvement Total 

 $ $ $ $ 
Balance as at 1 July 2020 184,411      5,218       287,230 476,859  
Additions  58,221   38,612   -   96,832  
Depreciation   (144,049)  (11,962)  (43,802)  (199,812) 
Carrying amount as at 30 June 2021  98,583   31,868   243,428   373,879  

     
Balance as at 1 July 2021  98,583   31,868   243,428   373,879  
Additions - 4,005 -         4,005  
Disposals/written off (1,386)  (9,285) - (10,671)  
Depreciation  (70,153)  (8,968) (43,746) (122,867)  
Carrying amount as at 30 June 2022 27,044 17,620 199,682 244,346 

 

 
     2022 

$ 
   2021 

$ 
NOTE 8: INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Software development - at cost 1,029,023       712,422  
Less: accumulated amortisation (198,494)          (24,984) 
Work in progress - 350,865 
 830,529       1,038,304  

   

Reconciliations 
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial 
year are set out below: 
   
Software development cost   

Balance at the beginning of the year 1,038,304                  -   
Additions 31,052       1,063,288  
Disposals/written-off (65,317)                   -   
Amortisation  (173,510)           (24,984) 
Carrying amount at the end of the year            830,529        1,038,304  
   
During the year Company worked on following development projects: 

 Developed a single reporting source of truth for internal and external reporting requirements for 
the Dynamics CRM and Genesys Cloud data 

 Configured and provided the Genesys PureCloud Platform for the processing of inbound and 
outbound calls and chats 

 Partially migrated the current communication and collaboration platforms to a holistic solution on 
Office 365, utilizing Microsoft Teams and SharePoint Online 

 Migrated the current client management solutions over to a holistic Dynamics 365 solution, 
utilizing Dynamics 365 Customer Engagement 

 
Please also refer to Note 14. 
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     2022 

$ 
   2021 

$ 
NOTE 9: FINANCIAL ASSETS 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
  Interest bearing and alternative securities (a)         1,152,689  1,208,493 
  Total equities (b)         1,480,549  1,691,334 
         2,633,238  2,899,827 

   
(a) Interest bearing securities include corporate bonds and hybrid securities which have coupon rates 

varying from 2.36% to 4.34% and maturity dates ranging from March 2021 to March 2025. The above 
value represents the market value as at 30 June as per independent valuation report. 

 
(b) All financial assets are quoted on the Australian Stock Exchange. Shares in listed corporations have 

no fixed maturity date or coupon rate. The above value represents the market value as at 30 June as 
per independent valuation report. 

 
These financial assets are managed by an independent investment firm. 

 
NOTE 10: AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 
Remuneration of the auditor of the Company for:   
Auditing services 17,000 17,500  
Other services 4,700 3,600   

 21,700 21,100 

 
NOTE 11: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
Trade payables            110,371  462,048 
Other payables:   
- Wages            243,519   317,956  
- Superannuation             102,553    116,506  
- Others              58,225    102,302  
- GST payable              83,488   (23,002) 
Accrued expenses:   
- Other year end accrued expenses            108,669            194,432 
            706,825        1,170,242  

 
NOTE 12: CONTRACT LIABILITY 
Unexpended grants:   
Family services            450,112  44,296  
Suicide services 74,673    165,882   
Other services              21,924  75,651  

            546,709    285,829 

   
These grants are enforceable and have sufficiently specific performance obligations in accordance with 
AASB 15 the amount received at that point in time, is recognised as a contract liability until the 
performance obligations have been satisfied. 
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     2022 

$ 
   2021 

$ 
NOTE 13: PROVISIONS 
Current   
Employee benefits – annual leave            468,295   545,507  
Employee benefits – long service leave (a) 94,529  (50,729)  
Leased properties – make good provision              87,047  - 

 649,871   494,778  

   
Non current   
Employee benefits – long service leave (a)            40,472   125,822  
Leased properties – make good provision -  87,047  

            40,472   212,869  

   

(a) The Company registered with the Portable Long Service Leave Scheme administered by the Portable 
Long Service Leave Authority from 1 July 2019. With this Scheme, eligible workers including 
Counsellors, Team Managers and Higher Duties Counsellors may transfer their long service leave 
entitlements to other eligible employers. Staff remuneration is reviewed, and relevant details provided 
to the Authority which calculates the employer levy before payments are made, each quarter. 

   
Movement of provisions:   

Opening balance            707,647  822,992 

Net provisions raised during the year 110,927 7,253 

Provisions used during the year (128,231)  (122,598) 

Closing balance            690,343   707,647  

   
Provision for employee benefits  
Provision for employee benefits represents amounts accrued for annual leave and long service leave. 
The current portion for this provision includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements and 
the amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have vested due to employees having 
completed the required period of service. Based on past experience, the Company does not expect the full 
amount of annual leave or long service leave balances classified as current liabilities to be settled within 
the next 12 months. However, these amounts must be classified as current liabilities since the Company 
does not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of these amounts in the event employees wish 
to use their leave entitlement. 

 
NOTE 14: OTHER COMMITMENTS 
Payable:   
 - not later than 1 year 43,682 697,129 
 - later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 203,645 303,002 
 - later than 5 years - - 

 247,327 1,000,131 

   
Other commitments in the current year relate to a lease agreement for an office for the duration of three (3) 
years. In the comparative year, other commitments relate to a managed services agreement, software as a 
service licence, support and development agreement, telephone maintenance support agreement, 
software development and a lease agreement for an office. 
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     2022 

$ 
   2021 

$ 
NOTE 15: RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOWS 
(Loss)/Profit after income tax (1,085,960) 1,722,433 
Cash flows excluded from profit attributable to operating activities   
Non-cash flows in profit:   
Depreciation  296,377           224,741  
Amortisation – right-of-use assets  334,291           318,586  
Unrealised loss/(gain) on investments  222,948         (258,802) 
Write-off of plant and equipment  10,671                 327  
Lease modification adjustment (216,039) - 
   
Changes in assets and liabilities:   
Change in trade and other payables  (463,417)          (274,689) 
Change in provisions  (17,304)         (115,345) 
Change in trade and other receivables (166,219)         (177,177) 
Change in unexpended operating grants 260,880           (580,203) 
 (823,772) 859,871  

 
NOTE 16: KEY MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION 
Total key management personnel remuneration  1,364,305 964,070 
Director’s remuneration  7,235 20,005 
 1,371,540 984,075 

   
Total number of key management personnel compensated during the year 2022 was 11 (2021: 9) 

 
NOTE 17: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
All significant transactions (including fee and reimbursements) with key management personnel and 
related parties were incurred on arm’s length basis. 

 
NOTE 18:  EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
The Company terminated its existing lease and decided to relocate to new premises. On 7 October 2022, 
the Company has entered into a lease agreement for an office for the duration of three (3) years with an 
option for renewal for an additional two (2) years.  
 
There are no other matters or circumstances other than those disclosed above that have arisen since the 
end of the financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the 
Company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in future financial years.  

 
NOTE 19: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
The Company has provided a guarantee as security against the lease agreement for its premises. At 30 
June 2022 the extent of this contingent liability amounted to $201,164 (2021: $201,164).  This contingent 
liability is fully funded by term deposits held by the Company. 

  
NOTE 20: ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE AND GOING CONCERN 
On the Line Australia Limited's single largest funding partner is the Department of Social Services which in 
financial year 2022 represented 37% of income. At the date of this report the Board of Directors has no 
reason to believe the Department will not continue its current relationship with the Company. 
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NOTE 21: OTHER MATTERS 
Taking into account the lessons learned from the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company has moved all of its 
technical infrastructure into the cloud. This has enabled the Company to draw on the expertise of a 
national workforce, rather than having to rely on Melbourne-based mental health professionals who are in 
critically short supply. It has also enabled the organisation to decommission its large premises and move 
to a smaller and more affordable office. The operating model of communicating and working virtually has 
evolved into being more efficient as processes are bedded down. This mode of working virtually is 
continually being monitored and the Company does not expect its operations to be adversely impacted in 
the foreseeable future. Most staff will remain working remotely.  
 
No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which has significantly 
affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations, or the 
state of affairs of the Company in future financial years. 

 
NOTE 22: MEMBERS’ GUARANTEE 
The Company is registered with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission and is an 
Australian public company limited by guarantee under the Corporations Act 2001. If the Company is 
wound up, the Constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of $1 towards 
meeting any outstanding obligations of the Company. As at 30 June 2022, the total amount that members 
of the Company are liable to contribute if the Company is wound up is $8. (2021: $8). 

 
NOTE 23: COMPANY DETAILS 
The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is in Melbourne, Victoria, Australia. 
For practical and sensitive reasons, the Company’s exact address has not been disclosed. 
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In accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of On the Line Australia Limited, the Directors of the 
Company declare that, in the Directors' opinion: 

 

1. The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 11 to 31, satisfy the requirements of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and: 

 

(a) comply with accounting policies to the extent described in Note 1, and Division 60 of the Australian 
Charities and Not for profits Commission Act 2012; and 

 

(b) give a true and fair view of the financial position of the On the Line Australia Limited as at 30 June 2022
and of its performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date.  

 

2. At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that On the Line Australia Limited will be
able to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 

 

 

This declaration is signed in accordance with subsection 60.15(2) of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Regulation 2013 in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed for and on 
behalf of the Board by: 

 

Chair 

 

 

 

 

Prof. Steven Moylan 

Chair of Finance 
Committee 

 

 

 

Paul Gladman 
 
Dated this 25th day of October 2022. 



 

 
 

 

Independent Member of Walker Wayland Australasia Limited,  
an association of independent accounting firms. 

 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under professional standards legislation.  

 

Walker Wayland Advantage Audit Partnership 

Audit, Assurance & Risk Advisory 

Level 7, 114 William Street 

Melbourne VIC 3000 

Australia 

ABN 47 075 804 075 

T +61 3 9274 0600 

F +61 3 9274 0660 

audit@wwadvantage.com.au 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF ON THE LINE AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial report of On the Line Australia Limited (“the Company”), which 
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022, the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for 
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies and the Directors declaration. 
 
In our opinion the accompanying financial report of On the Line Australia Limited has been 
prepared in accordance with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission 
Act 2012 (ACNC Act), including: 

 
(a)  giving a true and fair view of the On the Line Australia Limited’s financial position as at 30 

June 2022 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date; 
and 

(b)  complying with accounting policies to the extent described in Note 1, and Division 60 the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013. 

 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the 
ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standard) (the Code) that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 
 
Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting 
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes 
the basis of accounting. The financial report has been prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the 
Company’s’ financial reporting responsibilities under the ACNC Act. As a result, the financial report 
may not be suitable for another purpose.  Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

   
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF ON THE LINE AUSTRALIA LIMITED (Continued) 
 
 
Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Report 
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives 
a true and fair view and have determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 1 to the 
financial report is appropriate to meet the requirements of the ACNC Act, and for such internal 
control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of a financial report that 
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
The Directors of the Company are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole 
is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.  
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.   

 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

   
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF ON THE LINE AUSTRALIA LIMITED (Continued) 
 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report (Continued) 
 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  
 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 
We communicate with Directors of the Company regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
 
 
 
 
WALKER WAYLAND ADVANTAGE AUDIT PARTNERSHIP              
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS                                                            
 
 
 
 
AWAIS UR REHMAN 
PARTNER 
 
Dated in Melbourne on this           day of                                    2022                                 
 
 
 

 
 
 

25th October



On the Line Australia Limited
PO Box 2335
Footscray Victoria 3011
Australia

T: +61 3 8371 2800
F: +61 3 8371 2888
enquiries@ontheline.org.au
ontheline.org.au

ABN 33 185 295 654
ACN 165 436 742
 
        On the Line Australia
        @OntheLineAus
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